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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private
Limited,which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 3I,2025, the Statement of Profit and Loss

[including Other Comprehensive IncomeJ, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policies and other explanatory information (herein after referred to as
"Financial statements").

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaidfinancialstatementsgivetheinformationrequiredbytheCompanies Act,2013,asamended
["Act") in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31,2025,its
profit [including Other comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year
ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing [SAs) specified under Section
143[10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described inthe Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial Statemenfs section of our report. We are independent of
the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accor'dance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the financial statements.

Material uncertainty related to Going Concern

Attention is invited to note no. 25 of the accompanying financial statements regarding
termination of lease by Maharashtra Industrial Development Corporation [MIDC) against which
Company has filed legal suit before the Hon'ble High Court of Bomany, which is pending for final
disposal and as stated therein the net worth of the Company as on 31st March 2025 has been
fully eroded. However, the management state the going concern emphasis as appropriate
considering the management plan to re-start the construction of hotel on the land parcel once
the land dispute is resolved with MIDC and continued financial and operational support from
SAMHI Hotels Limited [the ultimate holding company).

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Information Otherthan the financial statements and Auditor's Report Thereon
The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Board report, but does not include the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Board Report is expected to be made available to
us after the date of this Auditors' Report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
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other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

When we read Board Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibility of Management for the Financial statements
The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134[5) of the Act
with respect to the preparation of these Financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
financial position/state of affairs, financial performance, total comprehensive income, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in Indi4including the Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) specified under Section 133 of
the Act read with the Companies flndian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This
responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the
provisions ofthe Act for safeguarding ofthe assets ofthe Company and for preventing and detecting
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and
maintenanceof adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the
accuracy and completeness ofthe accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation
of the Financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company'sability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and usingthe
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative butto do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements asa whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance, but is not a guaranteethat
an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatementwhen it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
thebasis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professionalskepticism throughout the audit, We also:

Identiff and assess the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements,whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion, The risk ofnot
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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a Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143[3)[i] of the Companies
Act, 2013, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has
adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the
operating effectiveness of such controls.

a Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and,based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modiff our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidenceobtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause thecompany to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlyingtransactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit,

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and othermatters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial statements that, individually orin
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the
financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors
in [i)planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and [ii) to
evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the financial statements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies [Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order"), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section [11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in the
"AnnexureA" a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the
extent applicable.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.



b) In our opinion, proper books ofaccount as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books.

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss [including other comprehensive income), the
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Companies Act,20L3, read with Companiesflndian Accounting
StandardsJ Rules, 2015, as amended.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 3\, 2025
takenon record bythe Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31,
2025 frombeing appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

0 The going concern matter described under the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
paragraph above, in our opinion, may have adverse impact on the functioning of the company.

g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial statements of the
Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer "Annexure B" to the Financial
statements.

h) The Company has not paid managerial remuneration to its directors during the year and
accordingly provisions of section I97 read with Schedule V of the Act are not applicable to the
Company for the year ended March 37,2025.

i) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 20'J-4,in our opinion and to the best of our
informationand according to the explanations given to us:

The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its
financial statements - Refer Note No. 25 to the financial statements

ii. The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or Indian accounting
standards, for material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts including derivative
contracts.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

[a) The management has represented that, no funds have been advanced or loaned or
invested [either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of
funds) by the company to or in any other person[s) or entity[ies), including foreign
entities ["lntermediaries"), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
company ["Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, security or the like on
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.
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[b) The management has represented that, no funds have been received bythe company from
any person[s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities ["Funding Parties"), with the
understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the company shall,
whether, directly or indirectly, Iend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party ["Ultimate Beneficiaries") or
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

[c) Based on such audit procedures that we have considered reasonable and appropriate in
the circumstances; nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the
representations under sub-clause [a) and [b) contain any material mis-statement.

The company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year. Hence, provisions
of Section 123 of the Act are not applicable.

Based on our examination, which included test checks, the Company has used accounting
software for maintaining its books of account which have a feature of recording audit trail
[edit log) facility and that have operated throughout the financial year for all relevant
transactions recorded in the software. Further, during the periods where audit trail [edit log)
facility was enabled and operated throughout the year for the respective accounting
software, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature being tampered and
audit trail has been preserved by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record
retention.

For Lodha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 30105 1E /E300284

&t//""-
Gaurav Lodha

IPartner)
Membership No.507462
Place: New Delhi
UDrN: LSSOTL\6>B|.1kutc q'.oq I
Date: 20105 /2025
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ANNEXURE'A" REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 1 UNDER THE HEADING "REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL
AND REGUTATORY REQUIREMENTS" OF OUR REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF DUET INDIA HOTETS (NAVI MUMBAI) PRIVATE TIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 3L,2025.

ti)
(a) [A) The Company does not have any Property, Plant and Equipment, However, the Company has

a leasehold land on which it has created Right-of -use asset on it and has maintained relevant
details of right of use assets. [read with note no 25 of financial statement)

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(b) The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of Right of Use Asset by which
Right of Use Asset were physically verified by the management. In accordance with this
programme, Right of Use Asset were physically verified during the year and no material
discrepancies were noticed on such verification. In our opinion this periodicity of physical
verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets.

[read with note no 25 of financial statement)

[cJ According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the property tax receipts and lease agreements provided to us, we report that properties on
lease where the Company is the lessee and the lease agreements were duly executed in favour of
the lessee. During the previous financial year on 10 January 2024, the Company has received a

notice from MIDC for lease termination. [read with Note no. 25 of the financial statement).

[d) The Company has not revalued any of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
during the year.

[e) According to the information and explanations given to us and records provided, no proceedings
have been initiated during the year or are pending against the Company as at March 3L,2025 for
holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 19BB

fas amended in 2016) and rules made thereunder.

tii).
[aJ The company does not have any inventory. Accordingly, we are not offering any comments under

clause 3[ii)(a) of the order.

[b) According to the information and explanations given to us, at any point of time of the year, the
Company has not been sanctioned any working capital facility from banks or financial institutions
and hence reporting under clause 3tiDtb) of the Order is not applicable.

[iii). The Company has not granted loans or advances in the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties during the year and has not
made investments in other parties during the year and has not provided guarantee or security.

[a) The Company has not granted loans or advances in the nature of Ioans, secured or unsecured, to
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties during the year and hence
reporting under clause 3[iii)[a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.



(b) Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has not made investment, not provided security to any other entities
during the year. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the
audit procedures conducted by us, in our opinion the terms and conditions of the grant of loans
provided and amended during the year are, prima facie prejudicial to the interest of the
Company. since the terms of repayment are at the option of the borrower, Further, the Company
has not grant any advance in the nature ofloan to any party during the year.

[c) According to the information and explanation given to us, in respect of Interest Free Inter
Corporate Deposit given bythe Company, the Company being an infrastructure facility providing
company under section 186[11) of the Act, has been exempted from charging interest under
section 186(7) of the Act on inter corporate deposits given by the Company. Further, in case of
interest free loans where there is no stipulation of schedule of repayment of principal, we are
unable to comment on the regularity of repayment of principal, as these are repayable at the
option of borrower,

Name of the Entity Amount
(rNR

millions)

Remarks

Duet India Hotels fHyderabadl Private Limited* 17.04 These loans are
repayable at the

option of the
borrower.Duet India Hotels fPune) Private Limited 101.91

Further, The Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any other party during
the year.

*Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited, now merged with Duet lndia Hotels (Hyderabad)
Private Limited qs per Scheme of amalgamation w.e.f 29th February 2024 (refer note no 22 of
financial statements)

[d) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures
performed, in respect of ICDs granted by the Company, in case of interest free loans granted,
amountingto Rs. 118.95 million [balance as at 31 March 2025) to various companies (details
provided below), the schedule for repayment of principal have not been been stipulated, as these
are repayable at the option of the borrower and accordingly we are unable to comment on the
amount overdue for more than ninety days:

Name of the Entity Amount
(rNR

millions)

Remarks

Duet India Hotels lHyderabad) Private Limited* L7.04 These loans are
repayable at the

option of the
borrower.Duet India Hotels [Pune) Private Limited 101.91

Further, The Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any other party during
the year.

**Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited, now merged with Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad)
Private Limited os per Scheme of amalgamation w,e,f 29th February 2024 (refer note no 22 of
financial statements)



(e) According to the information and explanation given to us, the Company had granted Inter
Corporate Deposits ICDsJ to group companies which had fallen due during the year and the
company had renewed the said ICDs during the year, In our opinion following instances of loans
falling due during the year were renewed or extended or settled by fresh loans:

Name of Parties Aggregate amount of overdues of existing loans
renewed or extended or settled by fresh loans

(including Interest)
fAmount in Rs. million)

Duet India Hotels [Bangalore)
Private Limited* t7.38

Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private
Limited t1,7.61,

Duet India Hotels [Chennai OMR)
Private Limited 4.00

Further, The Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any other party during
the year.

*Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited, now merged with Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad)
Private Limited as per Scheme of amalgamation w.e.f 29th February 2024 (refer note no 22 of
financial statements)

[f) The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, either repayable on
demand [read with our comments under clause 3[iii)[b) of the Order above) or without
specifying any terms or period of repayment to [companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships
or any other parties]. Accordingly, the requirementto report on clause 3[iiDi0 of the Order is
not applicable to the Company,

[iv). According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not, granted any loan,
made any investment, given any guarantee and security which requires to comply with the
provision of Section 185 and 186 of Companies Act 2013.

(v), In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has not
accepted any deposit or amounts which are deemed to be deposits within the provisions of the
section 73 to 76 of the Act or any other relevant provisions of the Act and the rules framed
thereunder [to the extent applicable). Hence, reporting under clause 3[v) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company. We have been informed that no order has been passed by the Company
Law Board or National Company Law Tribunal or Reserve Bank of India or any Court or other
Tribunal in this regard.

[vi). In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company is not
required to maintain cost records pursuant to section 148[1) of the Companies Act, 2013,

(vii).
[aJ According to the records of the Company, the Company is generally regular in depositing

undisputed statutory dues including income tax, goods and services tax, provident fund,
empln5rees' statp insrlrance, sales tax, senrice tax, dr.rt5r of cr.rstoms, dr.rtlr sf sysise, \rAllre added tav,



cess and other material statutory dues with the appropriate authorities to the extent applicable
and there are no statutory dues payable for a period of more than 6 months from the date they
became payable as at 31.t March, 2025.

[b) According to the information and explanations given to us, there is no disputed amount of
statutory dues referred to in sub-clause[a) above which has to be deposited except income tax
demand of Rs. 0.6 million [pertaining to A.Y I99B-99 to A.Y 2003-04) which has been settled
subsequent to the Balance sheet date and hence reporting under clause 3 [vii) [b) of the Order is
not applicable.

[viii). There were no transactions relating to previously unrecorded income that were surrendered or
disclosed as income in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 7961, (43 of 1961) duringthe
year.

(ix).
[a) According to information and explanation given to us, the Company has not defaulted in the

repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment of interest thereon to any lender
during the year.

[b) The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or
government or any government authority,

[c) The Company has not taken any term loan during the year and there are no outstanding term
loans at the beginning of the year and hence, reporting under clause 3 [ix) [c) of the Order is not
applicable.

[d) On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, funds raised on short-term
basis have, prima facie, not been used during the year for long-term purposes by the Company.

[e) The Company did not have any subsidiary or associate or joint venture during the year and hence,
reporting under clause 3[ix) [e) and [fJof the Order is not applicable.

[x).

Ixi)

[a) The Companyhas notraised moneys byway of initial public offer or further public offer [including
debt instruments) during the year and hence reporting under clause [x)[a) of the Order is not
applicable.

(b) During the year the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of
shares or convertible debentures (fully or partly or optionally) and hence reporting under clause
[x)[b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(a) Based on the audit procedures performed and on the basis of information and explanations
provided by the management, no fraud by the Company and no fraud on the Company has been
noticed or reported during the year.

[b) To the best of our knowledge, no report under sub-section [12) of section 143 of the Companies
Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors)
Rules, 2014 with the Central Government, during the year and upto the date of this report.

(c) The Company is not required to established vigil mechanism under section 177 of the act, hence
repnrti r this clause is not applicable,



[xii). In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a
nidhi company and hence reporting under clause 3[xiiJ of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii), According to the information and explanations and records made available by the management of
the Company and audit procedures performed, the Company is in compliance with Section 177 and
1BB of the Companies Act, where applicable, for all transactions with the related parties and the
details of related party transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements etc. as required
by the applicable Indian accounting standards.

[xiv). On the basis of records made available to us and according to information and explanations given to
us, the company does not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internalaudit
system as per provisions of the Companies Act, 2013,

[xv). On the basis of records made available to us and according to information and explanations given to
us, the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with the directors or persons
connected with its directors and hence provisions of section t92 of the Companies Act, 2013 are
not applicable to the Company.

(xvi). The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-lA of the Reserve Bank of India Act
1934 and hence reporting under clause (xviJ(a), [bJ and [c) of the Order is not applicable. As per
the information and representation provided by the management, there are no CICs within the
group [as defined in Core Investment Companies [Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016).

[xvii).The Company has incurred any cash losses of Rs. 32.43 million during the financial year covered
by our audit and immediately preceding financial year the company had incurred cash losses of Rs.

853.59 million.

[xviii). There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors of the Company during the year

[xix). According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios,
ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities,
other information accompanying the financial statements and our knowledge of the Board of
Directors, Management plans and operational and financial support from ultimate holding
company [read with note no 25 of the Financial Statements) and based on our examination of the
evidence supporting the assumptions, we are of the opinion that material uncertainty exists as on
the date of the audit report that Company may not be capable of meeting its liabilities existing at
the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance
sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company
and/ or certificate with respect to meeting financial obligations by the Company as and when they
fall due. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report
and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period
of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall
due.

[xx). The Companywas nothaving networth of rupees five hundred crore or more, orturnover of rupees
one thousand crore or more or a net profit of rupees five'crore or more during the immediately
preceding financial year and hence, provisions ofSection L35 ofthe Act are not applicable to the
Company during the year. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(xx)[a) & (b) ofthe Order.is not
applicable for the year.



[xxiJ. The reporting under clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. Hence, no
comments in respect of the said clause have been included in this report.

For Lodha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 30105 1E /E300284

,et*
Gaurav Lodha
(Partner)
Membership No. 507462
Place: New Delhi
Date:20/05/2025



Annexure "B" to the Independent Auditor's Report
fReferred to in paragraph 2(g) of 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements'section of our
report of even date.)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of sub section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies
Act, 2013 ("the Act")

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Duet India Hotels [Navi
Mumbai) Private Limited ["the Company") as of March 31,2025 in conjunction with our audit of the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ['ICAI'). These responsibilities include the
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively
for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to Company's policies, the
safeguarding ofits assets, the prevention and detection offrauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness ofthe
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies
4ct,2073.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial reporting
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting [the "Guidance Note") and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and
deemed to be prescribed under section 143[10) of the Companies Act, 20L3,to the extent applicable to an audit of
internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial
controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness, Our audit of internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements
A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial
control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that [1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
fhe assets nf fhe rnmpany; [2) prnrdde reasnnahle assrlranre that transartions are recnrded as npccssar)r to Fermit
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preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and
directors of the company; and [3J provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements , including
the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with
reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has maintained, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were operating effectively as at March 3!,2025,based on the internal control over financial reporting
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued bythe Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India.

For Lodha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm's Registration No. 30 105 1E /8300284

(Gaurav Lodha)
Partner
Membership No. 507462
Place: New Delhi
Date: 20105 /2025



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Balance Sheet as at 3l March 2025
(All anrounls are in INR millions, unless othemise stated)

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Capital work-in-progress

Right to use asset

Intangible asscts

Financial assets

Other financial assets

Total non-current ass€ts

Current assets

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Other curent assets

Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equity share capital
Other equity

Total equity

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities
Bonowings

Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Total non- current liabilities

Current liabilities
Financial liabilitics

Borrowings

Trade payables

- total outstanding dues ofmicro enterprises

and small enterprises

- total outstanding dues of creditors other than
micro enterprises and small enterprises
Other cunent liabilities

Total curr€nt liabilities

As at

31 March 2025

As at

3l March 2024Note

3A
3B

4

5 0.08 0.08

0.08 0.08

0.03

0.96

6

7

0.15

2.41

2.36 0.99

2.64 1.07

8

I

10(a)

l0(b)

55.67 5s.67
(27s.08)l)

(r8r.r4)

1 82.55

(219.4r)

208.21

182.55 208.21

7.8411

t2

l3

t.t2

0.1 I

4.39

0.04
1.23 12.27

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The notes from Note I to Note 29 fom an integral part ofthese financial statements.

As pcr our rcport ofcvcn datc attachcd

For Lodha&CoLLP
Clnrtered Accountatils

ICAI Firm Registration No.: 30 I 05 I E/8300284

183.78

2.64

Far and on behalfofBoard ofDirectors of
Duct lndia Hotcls (Navi Mumbai) Privatc Limitcd

220.48

1.07

fuh- (l^d,ht 
^,mGaurav Lodha

Mcmbcrship No.: 507462

Plae e' New Dellri

Date: 20 Vlay 2025

Director
DIN; 08083337

llccc: Cutugrurrr

Date: 20 May 2025

Director
DIN: 10613564

lluuu. Our ugiaur

Date: 20 May 2025



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in INR millions, unless othenvise stated)

Income
Other income

Total income

Expenscs

Depreciation and amortisation cxpense

Finance costs

Other expenses

Prolit / (loss) before exceptional items and tax

Exceptional items

Profit / (loss) before tax

Tax expense

Defencd tax

Profit / (loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income / (loss), net of tsx

Total comprehcnsive income / [oss) for thc year

Earnings(Losses) per equity share (Face value of INR 10 each)
Basic (INR)

Diluted (INR)

The notes from Note I to Note 29 form an integral part ofthese financial statements.

As per ow report of even date attached

For Lodha & Co LLP
Chartered Accounlank

ICAI Firm Rcgistration No.: 30105 lE/E300284

For and on behalfof Board of Directors of
Duet Indla Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited

For the year cnded

3l Mrrch 2025

For the ye.r ended
3l March 2024Note

t4 50.66 50.66
s0.66 50.66

l5
l6
l7

25.75

6.68

9.22

28.01

11.77

32,43 49.00

18.23 1.66

841.56

18.23 (839.90)

l0(b) (38.05)

(38.0s)

18.23 (EO1.E5)

18.23 (801.8s)

fuj*

19

Director

DIN:08083337

Place: Gurugram

Date:20 May 2025

?*1'

(1.61)

(1.61)
( 1 78.66)
(178.66)

Gaurav Lodha

Partner

Membcrship No.: 507462

Place: New Delhi
Date:20May 2025

Singhal
Director
DIN: 10613564

Place: Gurugram

Date:20May 2025



Duet Indis Hotels (Navi Mumbri) Priyate Limited
cIN: U45200HR1982PTC0?5000

Ststcmetrt ofCssh Flows for the ycsr cnded 3t March 2025
(All amornts are in INR millions, unless othetrise stated)

A. Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustmcnts for:

Depreciation and amortisation exp€nse

Provision forimpaiment ofright ofuse asset

Capital work-in-prog€ss witten off
Provision/ liabilitics no longcr rcquircd writtcn back

Finance cosls

Opcrrting cssh flows bcforc movcmcnt ln asscts tnd llabiliaies
lncrese/ (Decrease) in other tinmcial assets md other 6sets
Incre6e/ (Decrease) in trade payables

Increme / (decrease) in other liabilities
lncrcmc in other financial liabilities

Cssh generated from operations

Iucoma lues (paid) / rcfurded - nct
Nct cash gcncratcd by / (uscd in) operuting activitics (A)

B. CNsh llows from investing activities
Pwchasc ofpropcfty, plant and equipmcnt and intangible asscts

Distribution on behalf of Ultimate Holding Company

lnt€rcorporate loas paid / (received back)
Nct cash uscd in invcsting activitics (B)

C. Cash flows from linancing activities
Procesds from Intcrcorpomte bonowings
Intclest paid

Nct cesh lscd ln llnancing activitics (C)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)
Croh md croh cquivalcnrs at the beginning of thc year

Crsh and cash equivslents at the end ofthe year

Notes to statement of cash flows
l. Components ofcash and cash equivalents

Balmccs with banks

- in cunent accounts

ii, Movement itr financial borrowings

Opening Balance

Chrngcs from financing cash flows
Proceeds from long tem bonowings
Interest paid

For Lodha & Co LLP
Charlerc.l Accouiltunts

ICAI Fimr Registratiou No.: 30 I 05 I E/830028.1

As at

31 Marcb 2025

As at

31 March 2024

For th€ year ended

3l March 2025

18.23

For the year ended

3l Mrrch 2024

(839.9o)

9.22
6't4.37

167.t9
(50.66)

28.01

(50.66)

25.75

(6.68)

(l.4s)
(3.2't)

0.07

(tt.77)
(0.es)

4.39
(0.02)
(0.38)

(r133) (8.73)

(11.33) (8.73)

20.04

(46.6r)

31.80

14.52

20.o4 (0.29)

(7.84)

(0.7s)

'7 -60
(0.02)

(E,s9) 7.58

0.12

0.03

(1.44)
t.47

0.15 0.03

0.ts 0.03

0.15 0.03

For the y€or €nded 3l
Mrrch 2025

For th€ y€rr ended 3l
March 2024

216.05 23t.r2

(7.84)

(0.7s)

7.60

(0.02)

Other non cash chang€s

Finance costs axpcnsc nct (24.91\ (22.6s)

Closing Balance 182.55 216.0s

iii' Thc cash Flows from opcrating activitics scciion in statcmcnt of Cash Flows has bccn prcparcd in accordancc with thc ,lndircot Mcthod, as sct out in thc Ind AS 7
"Statcmcnt of Cash Flows',.

The notes lrom Note I to Note 29 foml an inte$al part ofthese linancial statements.

As pcr our rcport ofcvcn datc attachcd

For and on bchalfofBoard ofDircctors of
Duct India Hotcls (Navi Mumbai) Privatc Limitcd

%dJ'*' 5rr\t^
Caurav Lodha

iVlerrbership No. : 507-.162

lhru. l,Jrw DrlLi
Datc: 20 iVlay 2025

Simranjeet Sitrgh

Director
DIN:08033337

Place: Gurugram

Dare: l0 \4ry 2025

Dircc'tor

DIN: 1061356'l

Place: Gurugram

Date: 20 Vlay 2025



Duet tndh Holels(Nrvl Munbrl) Prtvrtc Llndtcd
CIN: U452U}HRI982PIC075000
Slrtement ofChrnge! ltr Eqdty for the ye.r ended 3l Mrrch 2025
(Ail arnouts arc in INR ntilio6, uill.$ oilpndse stated)

r. Eqolty lhrr€ crpltrl

A!.t31 Mrrch 2024

p""tt"olur" A^ouni-
A! 3t0l Apru 2021 5,566EE sssl
Chang6 in quilyshare epital during $e )@r

Ar !t0l Aprll 2024

ChangH in cquity shsre epiial duir8 lhe Far
As rl 3l Vrrch 2025

For Ldhr & Co LLP
Chadered Amuiltants
ICAI Fim Resistration No.: 30l05lE/E300284

-gqt)^tGrurrv Ldhr

Mmb€mhip No.: 507462

Pla@: NewDelhi

Datc: 20 May 2025

e,-^t+t*U
.,.-l*,.** I
3'iTliJo,,,,,

PDucl Indh lloael. (Nrvl Mumbrl) klvrte Llillted

DIN:10613564

Pla€r Curusm
Datc 20 May 2025

Pla€: Cmrm
Ddc: 20 May 2025

5,56,68E 55.67

5_s6-6m 55.6?

b. Other equlty (refcr notc 9)

P.rtlculart Dlltibutlon on beh.lf ol
Ultlnste Hddlng

Comprny
(Nde 9O))

Dquity component
of FCCD3
(Nolc 9(c))

Rcrnaa and 3urplur
Incomc

Total

Secoaltlcr prcfilum Ret.lncd errnlngi

deflncd b€ncnt plrn!

B.lmcc rr rt 0l Aprll 2023

LGs for the Fr
070.79j 330-5t 1t.08 274.1O

(80t.85'
494,91

Iobl comprehenriya 16r
Addition durinc rhe Fr (lsircnr/rec€ivcd)

(80t.851 (801.8sj
1t *a

Arlcncc rr rt 3l March 2024 038.991 3S0.58 41.0E (327,75 (2?s.08i

Iotrlcompr€beulve 16
Addition duing the )rar ((given)/rseived) 20.04

lE.2l 1E.23

20.&
ii lt 350,58 41.08 {s09.51 (216.

The nol6 from Note I lo Norc 29 fom an inregral part ofthAe financial sblemenrs.

As pq ou repon ofevetr date a[achcd



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless"otherwise stated)

1.1 Corporate information

Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited ('the Company') was incorporated on February I't, 1982
under the Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development, operation
and management of Hotels in India.

The Step-up Holding Company of the Company ("ACIC Mauritius 1") on March 30,2023 had entered
into a Share Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited ("SAMHI' or "Acquirer")
for stake sale. During the year ended March 3I,2024, the transfer of shareholding has been executed on
August 10,2023.

The Ind AS financial statements are approved for issue by the Board of Directors on2}May 2025.

1.2 Basis of preparation

These Ind AS financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards
(Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time
notified under Section 133 of the Companies AcL,20l3,('Act') and other relevant provisions of the Act.

B. Functional and presentation currency
These Ind AS Financial Statements are presented in Indian Rupees (Rs.), which is also the Company's
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest millions and upto trvo decimal placis,
unless otherwise indicated.

C. Basis of Measurement
These Ind AS Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except certain financial
assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. Going Concem basis of accounting used by the
management.(Refer Note 25).

D. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions.

The preparation of Ind AS Financial Statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and the accompanying disclosures. Uncertainty about the
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that may require material adjustment to the carrying
value of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The following are the significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial
statements:

Dethi



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in tupees millions, unless-otherwise stated)

(D. Provisions and contingencies

The assessments undertaken in recognizing provisions and contingencies have been made in accordance
with Ind AS 37, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets', which involves key
assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

(iD. Leases

Critical judgements in determining the lease period:
Ind AS I l6 required lessees to determine the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease adjusted
with an option to extend or terminate the lease, if the use of such option is reasonably certain. The Company
makes an assessment on the expected lease term on a lease-by-lease basis and there by assesses whether it
is reasonably certain that any options to extend or terminate the contract will be exercised. In evaluating
the lease term, the Company considers factors such as any significant leasehold improvements undertaken
over the lease term, costs relating to the termination of the lease and the importance of the underlying asset
to the Company's operations taking into account the location of the underlying asset and the availability of
suitable altematives. The lease term in the future possible periods is reassessed to ensure that the lease term
reflects the current economic circumstances.

Critical judgements in determining the discount rate:
The discount rate is generally based on the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lease being evaluated
or for the portfolio of leases with similar characteristics.

(iii). Useful lives and recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment

The estimated useful lives and recoverable amounts of propefiy, plant and equipment me based on estimates and
assumptions regarding the expected market outlook, expected fuhue cash flows, obsolescence, demand"
competition, known technological advances. The Company reviews the useful lives and recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting date.

(iv). Impairment of Property, plant and equipment (including Right of Use Assets) and Intangible Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that are subject to depreciation/amortisation are tested
for impairment periodically including when events occur or changes in circumstances indicate that the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying value. The recoverable amount of
cash generating units is higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost to sell. The calculation involves use
of significant estimates and assumptions which includes tumover and earnings multiples, growth rates
and net margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rate, future economic
and market conditions.

(v). Employee benefit obligations
Employee benefit obligations (gptuity and compensated absences) are determined using actuarial
valuations, which involves determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates.
Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1 982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless-otherwise stated)

(vi). Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments recorded in the Ind AS balance sheet in respect of which quoted
prices in active markets are not available, are measured using valuation techniques. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgment is required in establishing fair values. Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity
risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
value of financial instruments. Also, refer note 23 for further disclosures.

(vii). Recognition of deferred tax assets / liabilities
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is regarded as probable that deductible temporary
differences can be realized. The Company estimates deferred tax assets and liabilities based on current tax
laws and rates and in certain cases, business plans, including management's expectations regarding the
manner and timing of recovery of the related assets. Changes in these estimates may affect the amount of
deferred tax liabilities or the valuation of deferred tax assets and thereby the tax charge in the Statement of
Profit and Loss.
Provision for tax liabilities require judgements on the interpretation of tax legislation, developments in case
laws and the potential outcomes of tax audits and appeals which may be subject to significant uncertainty.
Therefore the actual results may vary from expectations resulting in adjustments to provisions, the valuation
of deferred tax assets, cash tax settlements and therefore the tax charge in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(viii). Litigation
From time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings, the ultimate outcome of each being always
subject to many uncertainties inherent in litigation. A provision for litigation is made when it is considered
probable that a payment will be made and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Significant
judgement is made when evaluating, among other factors, the probability of unfavourable outcome and the
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of potential loss. Litigation provisions are reviewed at
each accounting period and revisions made for the changes in facts and circumstances.

(ix). Recognition of Distribution of behalf of [Jltimate Holding Company and Equity Component of
Intercompany Borrowings
Inter corporate loans given to fellow subsidiary companies for which interest have been waived in earlier
years in the light ofthe cash flow constraints, such loans to be treated as interest free loans and recognised
and measured at fair values determined using present value technique with inputs that include future cash
flows and discount rates that reflect assumptions that market participants would apply in pricing such
loans. The difference between the transaction price and fair value of such loans given to fellow
subsidiaries to be recognised as Distribution on behalf of Ultimate Holding Company with a debit to Other
Equity.

Intercorporate borrowings availed from fellow subsidiary companies for which interest has been waived
in the earlier years by the fellow subsidiary companies in the light of the cash flow constraints, such
borrowings to be treated as interest free borrowings and recognised as Equity Component of Intercompany
Borrowings with a credit to Other Equity.



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless"otherwise stated)

E. Current and non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current
classification. An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

- it is expected to be realized in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Company's normal operating
cycle.

- it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
- it is expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting date; or
- it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.

A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:
- it is expected to be settled in the Company's normal operating cycle;
- it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
- it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or
- the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

Current assets/liabilities include current portion of non-current financial assets/liabilities respectively. All
other assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (ifany) are classified
as non-current assets and liabilities.

Operating cycle
Based on the nature of the operations and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their
realization in cash or cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as twelve months
for the purpose of current/non-current classification of assets and liabilities.

Measurement of fair values
A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the company.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.'

F



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless"otherwise stated)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use ofunobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
) Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
) Level 2 

-Yaluation 
techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable
) Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
'For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

'For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above.
The Company measures financial instruments, such as, investments (other than investment in
subsidiaries), al fair value at each reporting date. Also, fair value of financial instruments measured at
amortised cost is disclosed in Note 23.

2. Material accounting policies

The Company adoptedDisclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendmentto IndAS 1) from I Apnl2023.
Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves, they impacted
the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of 'material' rather than 'significant' accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies,
assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users need to
understand other information in the financial statements.

(1) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs,
are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the statement of profit and loss in the period / year in
which the expenditure is incurred.



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN : U45200HR1982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless"otherwise stated)

Amortisation of Intansible assets
Intangible assets of the Company represents computer software. Computer software are amortized using
the straightline method over the estimated useful life (at present three to ten years) or the tenure of the
respective software license, whichever is lower. The amortization period and the amortization method are
reviewed at least at each financial year end. Ifthe expected useful life ofthe asset is significantly different
from previous estimates, the amortization period is changed accordingly.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the profit or loss
when the asset is derecognized.

(2) Financialinstruments

Recognition and initial measlffement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All
other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a
parfy to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to hansfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is generally its transaction
price (that is, the fair value of the consideration given or received). However, if there is a difference between
the transaction price and the fair value of financial instruments whose fair value is based on a quoted price
in an active market or a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the Company
recognies the difference as a gain or loss at inception ('day I gain or loss'). In all other cases, the entire
day I gain or loss is deferred and recognised in the income statement over the life of the transaction until
the transaction matures or is closed out.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Classification and subs equent measurement

Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at
- amortised cost;
- FVOCI - debt investment;
- FVOCI - equity investment; or
- FVTPL
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the
Company changes its business model for managing financial
assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

ll.



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000
Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless"otherwise stated)

the contractual terms of the financial
payments of principal and interest on

asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measure at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVTPL:

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured ai amortised cost or it
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model qssessment
The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to
management, for instance the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio, frequency, volume and timing
ofsales offinancial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectationi about future sales
activity.

Financial qssets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financiai asset on initial
recognition. 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks
and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial isset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it
would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;
- prepayment and extension features;

Financial qssets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial
assets at
FVTPL

These aSSetS are subsequently measured at fair value. Net galns and losses, including
any lnterest or dividend lncome, are recognised ln profit or loss.

Financial assets
at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

in profit or loss. Any garn
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Financial liabilities: classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified
as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains ind losses, including any
interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured it
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profii or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or it hansfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are tansferred or in which the
Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not
retain control ofthe financial asset.
If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains
either all or substantially all ofthe risks and rewards ofthe transferred assets, the transferred assets are not
derecognized.

Financial liabililies
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or exprre.

The Company also derecoglizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under
the modified terms are substantially different. In this case, a new frnancial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Off,retting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

L'ebt lnvestments
at FVOCI assets are subsequently measured at fair value, Interest income under the

effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

These

Equity
investments
At FVOCI

assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as
income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. other net gains and losses are recognised in oCI and are
not reclassified to profit or loss

These
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Modification of /inancial assets and liabilities

Financial qssets:

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. Ifthe cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to
cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial
asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company recalculates
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from adjusting the gross
carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities :
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Fully Compuls orily convertible debentures
The Company has issued fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCDs). As per the terms of
debenture agreement, each debenture will be converted into equity shares based on an agreed conversion
formula (fixed to fixed conversion).
FCCDs are separated into liability and equity components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance
of the FCCDs, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent
non-convertible instrument.
This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until
it is extinguished or converted.
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity since conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for
fixed to fixed classification.

vt

(3) Impairment

A. Impairment of financial instruments

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. Ind AS-109 on Financial Instruments, requires expected credit losses to be measured through a
loss allowance. For trade receivables only, the Company recognises expected lifetime losses using the
simplified approach permitted by Ind AS-109, from initial recognition of the receivables. For other
financial assets (not being equity instruments or debt instruments measured subsequently at FVTPL) the
expected credit losses are measured at the 12 month expected credit losses or an amount equal to the
lifetime expected credit losses if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
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The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortized cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-
impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach ofcontract such as a default or being past due for 90 days or more;
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider
otherwise;
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
- the disappearance ofan active market for a security because offinancial difficulties.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except for the
following, which are meastned as 12 month expected credit losses
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument.

l2-month expected credit losses are the portion ofexpected credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company's historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the
Company to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or

Delhi

- the financial asset is 90 days or more past due.
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Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses, Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance on
portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over
the expected life ofthe trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking esfimates. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates arc analyzed.

Presentation ofallowancefor expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

l(rite-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

B. Impairment of Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of impairment
based on internaVexternal factors. An impairment loss is recognized wherever the carrying amount of an
asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater ofthe
asset's (or cash generating unit's) net selling price and value in use. ln assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit).

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carryring amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

(4) Provisions
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event and it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost. Provisions
are reviewed by the management at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates
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(5) Contingentliabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed
by the occutrence or non-occulrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the
Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, or a present obligation whose amount cannot be estimated
reliably. The Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial
statements.

(6) Borrowing Cost
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred by the Company
in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition and/or
construction of those tangible fixed assets which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended in the period during
which active development is delayed due to intemrption, other than temporary intemrption. Other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

(7) Recognition of interest income or expense
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for
financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost ofthe financial asset. Ifthe asset is

no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

(8) Income Taxes
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received after considering the uncertainty,
if any, related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Company shall reflect the effect
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ofuncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment by using either most likely method or expected value method,
depending on which method predicts better resolution of the treatment.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only ifthere is a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realize the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward ofunused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that suffrcient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part ofthe deferred tax
asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the defened tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when
the asset is realised, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Defened tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in
other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.
The Company offsets deferred tax assets and defened tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
ofdefened tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

(9) Segement reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM).

Identification of segments
In accordance with Ind AS 108, Operating Segment, the operating segments used to present segment
information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources to the
segments and assess their performance. An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages
in business activities from which it eams revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues and expenses
that relate to transactions with any of the Company's other components.

(10) Earnings per share
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Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares

profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
outstanding during the period.

Equity shares that will be issued upon the conversion of a mandatorily convertible instrument are included
in the calculation ofbasic earning per share.

For the purpose ofcalculating diluted earnings per share, the profit or loss for the period attributable to
equity shareholders and the weighted average number ofshares outstanding during the period are adjusted
for the effects ofall dilutive potential equity shares, except where the results would be anti - dilutive.

(11) Leases

Company as a Lessee

On inception of a contract, the Company (as a lessee) assesses whether it contains a lease. A contract is, or
contains a lease when it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use ofan identifred
asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset (ii) the
Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of the
lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset ("ROU") and a
corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term
oftwelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases,
the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term
ofthe lease.

Lease contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates payments in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices and applies
the lease accounting model only to lease components.

The right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for initial direct costs incurred, lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, any asset restoration obligation, and less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are also adjusted
for any re- measurement of lease liabilities. Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
of the leased assets or renewal of the leases at the end of the lease term, recognised right-of-use assets are
depreciated to a residual value over the shorter of their estimated useful life or lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 'in-substance fixed' payments) and variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, less any lease incentives receivable. 'ln-substance fixed'
payments are payments that may, in form, contain variability but that, in substance, are unavoidable. ln
calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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The lease term includes periods subject to extension options which the Company is reasonably certain to
exercise and excludes the effect of early termination options where the Company is not reasonably certain
that it will exercise the option, Minimum lease payments include the cost of a purchase option if the
Company is reasonably certain it will purchase the underlying asset after the lease term.

Lease liabilities are re-measured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset if the
Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option and any
lease modification.

Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments
have been classified as financing cash flows.

(12) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash at banks and on hand, cheques on hand and short-term,
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

(13) Exceptional items

On certain occasions, the size, type or incidence of an item of income or expense, pertaining to the ordinary
activities of the Company is such that its disclosure improves the understanding of the performance of the
Company. Such income or expense is classified as an exceptional item and accordingly, disclosed in the
financial statements.
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3A Capitalwork-in-progress
Reconciliation of carrying amount

Caoital work-in-progress
Building Project

management and
technical fee

Preoperative
expenses

Total Capital work-in-
progress* &@

Gross carrying amount
Balance as at 01 April 2023

Additions during the year

Deletions during the year

Balance as at 3l March 2024

Additions during the year

Deletions during the year

Balance as at 31 March 2025

41.36

41.36

43.01

46.61

89.62

36.21

36.21

120.58

46.61

167.1,9

*refer note no 25

@ During the previous year, the Company has written off capital work-in-progress of INR I 67. I 9 million and recorded the same as an
exccptional item.

3B Right ofuse assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Right of Use
(Land)

Gross carrying amount

Balance as at 01 April 2023

Additions during the year

Deletions during the year

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Additions during the year

Deletions during the year

Balance as at 3l March 2025

Accumulated depreciation and Impairment losses

Balance as at 0l April 2023

Depreciation charge for the year

Provision for impairment of right ofuse asset*

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Deprcciation chargc for the ycar

Balance as at 3l March 2025

Net carrying amount

707.94

707.94

707.94

24.42

9. t5

(674.37)

707.94

707.94

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Balance as at 3l March 2025
*refer note no 25
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4 Intangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Computer software Total
Gross carrying amount

Balance as at 0l April 2023

Additions during the year

Deletions during the year

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Additions during the year

Deletions during the year

Balance as at 3l March 2025

0. t0

0.10

0. l0

0.10

Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at 01 April 2023

Amortisation expense for the year

DeletionsAVritten off during the year

Reversal on disposal of assets

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Amortisation expense for the year

DeletionsAVritten off during the year

Reversal on disposal of assets

Balance as at 31 March 2025

Net carrvins amount

0.03

0.04

0.03

0. l0

0.03

0.04

0.03

0.10

Balance as at 3l March 2024
Balance as at 3l March 2025
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Non-current llnancid a$ets - Others
(Unsecured, cowidered good)

Secuity deposits

6 Current linancial assets - Crsh and cash equlyNlents

5 As at

31 March 2025

As at

3l Mrrch 2024

0.08 0.08

0.08 0.08

As at

3l March 2025

As at
31 Msrch 2024

Balances with banks

- in cunent accounts 0.15 0.03

0.ls 0.03

7 Othcr currenl assets

(Urc ecxred corei dered goo ds)

Balance wilh statutory authorities

As at

3l March 2025

As at
31 Mrrch 2024

2.41 0.96

2.41 0.96
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t Equlty shrre crpitrl

Authoilsed 3hore crpltil
Equity sharcs ofINR 100 cach

Issucd, subscribcd and fully psid up

Equily sharcs oflNR 100 each

(.) Reconclllrtlonoflheequltysh.r€soutstrndlng.tthebeglnnlngandrttheendofrcpofilngyear

Equity shar€s

At the beginning ofthc 
'€arAdd : Issusd during the year

At thc cnd oflhc ycrr

(b) Shares held by holdlng compsny or their subsidiaries/ associates

llquity sh!rcs of INR 100 ctch
Duet India Hotels (Hydembad) Private Limited, the holding company *

* including I 0 sharcs hcld by nominee sharcholder [Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Privah Limited]

(c) D€talls ofsher€hold€n holdlng more thsr 5%o shri€s

Equlty shsrer of INR 100 erch
Duct India tlolels (Illderabad) Private Limited, thc holding company I

* including shares held by nominee shareholder

(d) Detslls ofiharei held by promot€rs

As st 3l Merch 2025

As rt
3l Msrch 2025

Numbcr of shrres Amount

As rt
3l Mrrch 2024

Number ofshorcs Amount

6,00,000

6,00,000

60.00 6,00,000

60.00 6,00,000

60.00

60.00

55.6',1

55.675,56,6tE

For thc ycor cndcd

ll Mrrch 2025

Numbcr ofshrrcs

5.56,688 5,56,688

I5,56.688 55.6', _________:4f!!-

55.61

55.67 5,56,6EE

Foa the yc.r cnded

31 Msrch 2024

Number ofshNrci

55.67

As rt
31 Mrrch 2024

Numbcr ofshrr$ 70 ofholding

5.56.688

Amount

55.6',1

Amount

As at
3l Mrrch 2025

Number ofshrres Amount

As al
3l March 2024

Numb€r ofshrres Amount

5,56,588 55.6'1 5,56,588 55.67

5,56.5tE 55.61 5,56,5EE 55.6?

Ac .t
3l Mrrch 2025

Numbcr ofshsrc! 7. ofholdlng

5,56,68{1 55.61 5,56.688 55.67

--------i,!!,!!q- -----------Eg- --------if!,qq- 

--l!j?

S No. Promotcr N_rmc
No. of shlrci rt th€ Chrnge du ring the No. of shlres al thc

70 ofTot.l Shrrci
7o chrogc durlng

€nd ofthe

Duet India Hotels
(HydeEbad) Private Limited,
the holding company *

5,56,6E8 5,56,688 to'v.

t including shares hcld by nomincc sharcholdcr

No, ofshar€s at thc Change th€ No. ofshsr€s rl th€ 9o chsnge during
S :{o. Ptomotcr Namc

beslnninp of end of
Duet Indir Hotels
(Hyderabad) Private Limited,
lhe holding company *

5,56,688

* including sharcs held by nomincc sharcholdcr

In last fivc ycars thcrc was no bonus issue, buy bsck and/or issuo ofsharcs othcr dran for cash considcration.

Fully Compulsory Convcrtiblc Dcbenturcs (FCCDs) hcld by holding compsny/ cnlity having significant influcncc

FCCDS ofRs. 100 oech fully paid up hcld by

Duct lndia Hotcls (Hydcrabad) Privatc Limilcd. lhc holdilg conrpany 41J.71.5{il

--------{4:$.!-

As at

3l Merch 2024

.l{17.16

4E?.16

48,71.5ti1 48?.16

48,71,581 487.16

5,56,688

t00.00

t000/.

As al
3l Mrrch 2024

No, %, of holding

4lt.7l.5til 100.00

Dctrils ofdcbentur€holdcrs holding more than 57o of FCCDs ofthe Comprny

Namt of dcbcn(urcholdcr

As at

3l Merch 2025

3l MArrh 2025

"l' of holdiilg

FCCD5 ol l{s. 100 cach fully psid up hcld by

Ducl lndic Hotcls (Hydcrabrd) Privalc Limiled. lhc holding company

No,

4$.7 1.58 I

l)ctfiils of ['CCDs hcld bv promorcrs

18,7r,581 100.00 48,71,s81



Duct Indlr Hotcls (Ntvl Mumbrl) Prlvrte Llmltcd
ClNr U45200HRt9E2PIC0?5000
Notcs to lhe llnrnciil rtraemetrlr for the ye.r endcd 3l Msrch 2025
(All anounE ate ih INR mtllioils, unless othe^eise sMEd)

S Io, Promoter Name
ofsh.r$ rt the Chsnge durlng lhe No. ofshrres rt the 7. ofTotrl Shrrei 70 chrnge durhg

the vear
Duet Indio

Hotels(Hyderabad) Privare
Limited

48,7t,581 48,?1,58 I 1006/.

S No, Ptomoter Nrm€ No. ofsh.rcs rt thc Change durlng the
ofthc verr

No. ofshares.t the
7o ofTotrl Shries

70 chrnge durlng
the year

Duet India

Hotcls(Hyderabad) Privatc
Linilcd

48,71,58r 48,71,581 100%



Duet Indh llotcl. (N.vl Mumbd) Prlv.tc Llmtted

CIN: U45200HR1982PrC075000
Noter blhc f,nrnchl il.temenb for the yerr€rdcd 3l Mrrch 2025

(All anoung ar. in INR ilillio$, nl6s othenise stutetl)

9 Othcr equlty

S€witi6 pmiM
Distibution to follorv subsidiaryon behalfolultimte holding @mpdy
Equity smponent of FullyConpulsorily Convcnibte DebntuB (FCCD)

Rehined€mings

o) Securltle3 piemlum

Balance at lhc bcgiming of the rsr
Add : Addirio$ mde during lhe 

'srBalance 6t rhe f,d of the Fr

3l M.rch 2025 31 Mrrcb 202d

41.08

(l r8.95)

350.58

41.08

(l]8.99)
150.58

(509.52) (527.15)

_________l!l!!u _____________eE9q

3l Mrrch 2025

A! at

3l Mrrch 2024

4t.08

4l-08

4t.08

41.08

Seurili6 pmim fu wcd to @rd the pr€mium mived on hsue ofshaG. It is utilizcd in amrdnne with thc prcvisions of lhe Compmi6 Ad, 2013.

b) Dbfibutlon to fallow lubrldhry on behslfof ulllmab holdlng conpstry

Balme at lh€ bcgiming of lhe,sr
Add ; Addition duing thc )aar ((givo)/rcccived)

Baleceat$c6dof theFr (lr8.9s) o3E.99)

Distibutiotr on behalfofUllimle Holding CompanyrepBenb diflerence bervm fair vslue ldd qrryitrg value ofloens givo ro hllow subsidiarid.

ultinutc holding @mpany md no inlrl f6 ben @rcd on $e loe lmsactions fom FY 2016l? till 3l Meh 2024. fe gmt of l@ns prvidcd have b@n alMded duing rlE y@r md rhe tem ofrpaymmt @ at
lhc option of the bomwr and de inmt &€.

c) Eq[lty componeni ofFully Computlorlly Convedlble Dcbcntor$ (FCCD)

Balme stthc begimingof tholsr
Add : Additioro mde during rhc ysr
Balane at the 6d of lhe ]csr

As rt
3l Mrrch 2025

(138.99)

20.M

Ar at

3l Mrrch 2024
(t10.19'

31.80

31 M.rch 2025

350.s8
3! Mrrch 2024

350.58

3s0.58 350.5E

This

d) Rehln€d ermlngr

(FCCD) issucd by the Conpany.

Balm@ at the begiming of the Fr
Pmli/ooss) for $e pr
Tmsfficd &om olh6 @mprehmsive incomc

Balan@ d the 6d ofthe )€sr

3l Mrrch 2025

(521.75\

18.23

3l M.rch 2024

214.10
(801,8s)

(509.52) (521.151

Rcbincd ffiings rcpcmt the amut of @umularql loss6 of rhc Compmt



D!.t Indlr Hot lt (Nrvl Munbol) Prlrctc Llrdted
CIN: U45200HRl9t2PTC075000
Noic! ao tie llnrncl.l ltdcmtrtr for lh. ye.r endgd 31 Msrch 2025
(All anoung arc in NR milllo8, unl6s oth@Lte stded)

l0(.) NoFur.etrtf,nmcl.llhbllldot-Bormwlnsr

Aggrcgdcstrd loaff
Aggrcgatg sssurcd losns

3l M.rch 2025

A8 rt
3l Mrrch 2024

D€bt @nponqt of Fully Compulsory convdible Drbmms (FCCD) (usdred) # 182.55 208.21

-IFt3!r -t['cIr
182.55 208.21

# Unsecued debf,tuc w alloned to Duet tndia Hotels (Hydmbsd) Privab Limiled caring interest @ SBI bde ote plus 300 basis points ps annum with temr of @nvereion as 1,2 FCCD shall get
convffed into I equity share of Rs. 100 mch, with the natuity befor 15 y6 i.e 3lst Marh 2030. As ps the comui@tion / confmition vhich hs bcen t kq, no intft is p&y6ble on ststed FCCtt a
the intmt has bm wived ofifron FY 15-16 rill Mmh 31,2025.



Duet India Hotels (Navl Mrmbai) Privste Limited
CIN: U45200HR1982PTC075000

Notes to the llnancisl statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
(All anounts are in INR millions, unless othemise stated)

l0(b) lncometax

Ar The maJor components oflncome tax expense / (lncom€) are

Recogniscd in profit or ioss

For the year ended

3l March 2025

For the year end€d

3l March 2024

C. Deferred tax assets / llabilitles

Dcfcrred tax asscts

Unabsorbed business loss and depreciation

Deferr€d tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets (net)

Dcfcrred trx asset / (llsbility) recognised *

D. Movement in temporary di{fcrences
31 March 2025

Cunent tax

Dcfencd tax

Net deferred tax $set *

3l March 2024

_ (38.0s)

(38.0s)

As at

31 March 2025

As at

31 March 2024

13.93 12.0'l

13.93 t2.07

13.93 12.o7

12.o7 r.E6

Net deferred tax asset * (38.0s) 5U.tZ

* As at 3 I March 2025 and 3 I March 2024 in thc absencc of rcasonablc ccrtainty of sufficient fururs taxablc profits, no dcfencd tax assct has been recognised.

E, Tax losses and unabsorbed deprrclatlon carried fomard
Tax losses for which no defcncd tax asset was recognised with expiry datc arc as follows

13.93

tz.o7

Busincss loss

Unabsorbcd dcprcciation

Business loss

Unabsorbed depreciation

As at
3l March 2025

Amount Expiry Period (FY)

19.55 2032-33

Ncvcr expirc

As at
3l March 2024

Amount Expiry P€riod (FY)

0.01

203t-12

Never expire

Psrticulars

Bslance as at
0l April 2024

(A)

Mov€m€nt durlng
the period

(B)

Balance as at
31 Mrrch 2025

(c=A+B)

Def€rred trx rss€ts

Unabsorbed business loss and depreciation 12.07 1.86 13.93

12.o7 l-R5 13.93

Psrticuhrs
Balance as rt
0l April 2023

(A)

Movcmcnt during
the perlod

(B)

Ballnce ss at
3l Mrrch 2024

(c=A+B)
Deferr€d tax assets

Unabsorbcd business loss and deprcciation t.46 10.6t t2.0't
1.46 10.61 12.01

Defcrrcd tsx liabilitles
Rightof-Use aslets (net ofLease Liabilities) 39.51 (39.5 r)

39.51 (39.st)

12.03

0.04



Duet lndla llot€|. otavl MumbNl) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR19t2sIC075000
Notca to thc llnencl|l statemns for thc ycrr ended 3l Msrch 2025
(All dmounts arc in INR rnillio(, unlds othensbe shkd)

ll Curr€nt llnrnclol llsbilltles - Borrowingi
(Uns@u€d) As .t

3l Verch 2025

As rl
3l Merch 2024

Intocorporatc loan fiom rclatcd padi6 # 1.84

# includcd intqest accrucdon loan tNR Nil (31 March 2024 INR 0.24 nillion).

Incorporrlc borrowingi from rclstcd partlcs

PNrtlcuhn
tmount ts oi Int€rcst ratc

Mr.ch 2025 3l Ysrch 2024
Rep.ymnt Term

Duct India Hotcls (Chmai) Privatc
Linital

't.60 N/ |.5001 Rcpayablc on demtld within I 2 months from thc
iate of drawdoM

12 Currcnt finarcisl llabillttcs - Trrde p.yabl6 As at
31 March 2025

As et

3l Mrrch 2024
Tradcpayablc

- total oulstanding du6 ofmicro mtqpriss and small dterpriss (MSMD)
- total ou$tanding du6 ofcreditors othcr than micro cntcrprisG and smll cntcrprises I12

LN

7.U

4.39

4.39

(a) Rcfs to Notc 26 for disclosurG undq Micro, Small and Medium Entcrpriscs Devclopmenr Act, 2006 (MSMED).
O) The Company's €xposure to cu[ency and liquidity risks related to lradepayabls is disclosed in Note 2].

Trsde prFblcs agcing schedulc

As at 3l March 2025

Thc Company do6 nol have any dispurcd du6 which are payablc as at 3 I Much 2025 and 3 I March 2024.

13 Othcr currcrt lhbllltlcs

Statutory du6 payable

14 Othcr lncome

Provisions/ lisbililiG no longs required wih back (refer note loa)

As rt
3l March 2025

0.1 I

As at
31 Mrrch 2024

0.04
0.lt 0,04

For the ycar cnded

3l Merch 2025

50.66

For thc yesr endcd

3l Merch 2024
50.66

50.56 50.66

*

!

Oxt.iandlno fdr fnllnwlnr n.ridd frdm dna drt'. nftron...tlnn

l-2 vearrAccrued expems I Le3i thrn I vear I 2-1 ver}i More ihrn 3 verK 'lotal

Othcrs r.04 I 00s I t,t2
l.M I 0.0r I l.t2

Outsbndlnp fdr fnllnfrnr ned.d fr.n dnp d..e nfhn.a.flnr
PrrticulaE l-2 v€anAccrued expcNcs I Less th!tr I ycar I 2-3 veln 'lntal

4,Js I 0.04 I 4.39

(i) MSME
(ii) Othcrs

Totd 4.3s I 0.04 | 4_3C

Delhi



Duct Indlr Hotrls (Nsvl Mumbrl) Prlvsac Llmltod

CINr U45200HR1982FTC075000

r-ote9 to the finrncl.l statementr for the y€.r ended 3l March 2025
(All amounts are in INR millioils, unless othetuise stated)

15 Depreciation and amofiiEtaion expense

Amonisation olRight-to-ue 6sets
Amortisation of intangiblc assets

16 l-lnsncc costs

Interest expense on financial liabilities cafiied at anonised cost

- FCCDS (refer hotc l0)
- Intercorporatc bonowings

17 Other expenses

Sccuity scwices

Legal and profcssional fces

Paymcnt to auditont

Rates and taxes

Rent expenscs

Travelling and conveyance

Misccllaneous cxpcnscs

*Psymcnt to auditors
As Auditors

Statutory audit

Othcr swices

Thc cotrrputation ofbasic camings4oss per sharc is set out below:

Net profiy(loss) attributable to equity shdeholdcrs

Intcrcst on FCCI)S

Liability no longer lequired writren back
Net loss atrributablc to cquity sharcholdcrs

Weighted average number ofequity shares outslanding during the year lor calculation ofbasic EPS

Wcightcd avcragc numbcr ofequity shares outstanding during the ycar for calculation ofdilulcd EpS

Nominal valuc ofcquity sharc (lNR)

Bdic eamingv(losses) per shde (lNR)

Diluted eamings/(losses) per shde (lNR)

Calculatiotr ofweighted averuge number ofshares for basic/diluted errnlngs p€r shore
Partlculrn
Equity sharcs as at bcginning ofthc ycar

lnstrumcnts cntircly equlty In nrturc
Fully compulsory convcrtiblc dcblnturcs at bcgiming olthc ycar

For the yerr ended

3l March 2025

For the year ended

31 Mrrch 2024

9.t5

0.07

l'or thc yc.r cndcd

3l March 2025

9.22

For thc yc.r cnded

3l Mrrch 2024

25.00

0.75

27.75

0.26

For tbe y€rr ended

3l MNrch 2025

25.75 28.01

For the yerr ended

3l Msrch 2024

1.07

9.52

0. t3

0.70

0.02

0.07

0.26

3.06

2.26

n71

0.69

0.01

0.09

0.30

6,68 lt.77

0. l3

0,27 0.t3

18 f,xceptlonal ltems For the yerr ended

3l March 2025

For the yerr ended

3l M.rch 2024
Provision for impaiment ofright ofuse 6set (refer note 25)
Capital work-in-progre$ Mitt6 off(refq notc 25)

841.56

19 Earnings(lors€s) por rhrre (EPS)

Bdic EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for thc yetr attributable to e4uity sharcholdcrs by thc wcightcd averagc number ofcquity shdes outstoding during the yed.

averagc numbor ofequity shues that would bc issucd on conveFion ofall the dilutivc potcntial equity shtres into equity shees.

0.13

0.14

674.3'1

161.19

For the ycsr cndcd

3l ltl.rch 2025

For thc ycar crded

3l M.rch 2024

18.23

25.00

(50.66)

(801.8s)

27.7s

(50.66)

o.43)
46,t6,339

46,t6,339

l0
( !.61)
( r.6l)

(824,16\

46,t6,339
46,16,339

l0
( r 78.66)

(178.66)

Numhcr Wclghtcd Avcrage

5,56,6885,56,688

40,5e,65 I 40,59,65 r

________$,:$!:_ _______________i



Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
CIN: U45200HR19E2PTC075000

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
(AIl amounts are in INR nillions, unless otherwise stated)

20 Contingent lirbilities and commitments
(to the extent not providedfor)

Contingent liabilities

2l Operating Segments

As at
3l March 2025

As at
3l March 2024

Commitments

Estimated amount ofcontracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others,
and not provided for

Thc Ultirnatc Holding Company's Chief Executivc Officer has bccn identified as the Chicf Operating Dccision Maker (CODM), since he is
responsible for all major decisions w.r.t. the preparation and execution ofbusiness plan, preparation ofbudget, planning, alliance, merger,
acquisition and expansion of any new facility. CODM has examined the Company's performance from product and geographic perspective
and has identified a single business segment i.e. "Developing and running ofhotels", hence no specific disclosures have been made.

A. Information about products and services
The Company primarily deals in one busincss namely "Developing and running of hotels", thcrcforc product wise revenue disclosure is not
applicable.

B. Information about geographical areas
The Company provides services to customers in India. Further, there are no non-current assets located outside India.

C. Information about tnajor customers (from external customers)
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to 10 per cent or more ofthe entity's revenue. Also, during
the year company has not carried out any business operations.



Duct Indh Hotels (ltrvl Mumbrl) Prtvltc Llmltcd
CINr U{5200IlR19E2Pf C075000
Notcs lo thc tidttrcl.l slrLEcnts for thc y€.r cnd€d 31 Mirch 2025
( ll dmounb are h INR milllo6, unless othetwise stakd)

Hobls (Begalore) Privatc Duct Hotels (Hydcrabad) Privatc Limitcd N

s) Relqted psrty snd nrture ofrelsted p.rty relstlonrhlp wher. control exlsts

Bcrlptiotr of relrtiooshlp Nrme ofthc Prrty
Ultimate holding compmy SAMlll Hotsls Limited

tlolding cornpany
Duel lndia Holeh fl.lvdcrahad\ Privare I-inilcd

b) Othcr rclst€d pfilica wiah rhom tr.nslctions hrvc trkcn place

Dscrlptlor of rel.tioNhlp Nam€ ofthe Prrty
Entitics undq comon control Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Privrre I-imired

Duet India Hotels (Chcnnai OMR) Private Limitcd (lill l0 Fcbrugry 2025)
Entities undq comon control Dxet lndia Holels lBane,ldrel pdv,re I imited*
Entitics undcr comon control (Pme)

c) R€latcd ptrty trsniaction$ durlng thc currcnt yesrhrevious ycrr

Duet India Hotels merged with Duet Indio Hobls (Hyd@bsd) Privale Limited as
FebMry2024,

d) Rchted prrty bal.ncs as rtycrr end

Prrtlcul.rs
Mrrch Merch

Dbtribution on behslfof Ulaimste Holdinc CofrDtnv
Duet India HgJels (Bangolore) Private Limitedr l? 38
Duct India Hotels (Hydcmbad) Privatc Limitedt t7.u
Duct India llotcls (Pune) Privatc Limited t0l 9l |7.6t
Duet India Hotcls (ChcmaiOMR) Privatc Limitc{ 4.00

Borrowlngs fiom related partles
Duet lndia Ilorcls (Chcnmi) Privdc Limircd (includinq inrcrcst accrucd) 7.44

Fully Compulrorlly Copveltlblc dcbcnaurs (FCCD,s)
Duct Indaa Horels (Hydenbad) Privarc Limited (Equitv ComDonent) 150 5R 150 SR

Duct lndia Ilotcls (llldcmbad) Privarc Limitcd (OutsBnding balancc ofDebt ComDoncno 182.55 zia 2t
ofcmtwhile Duct Limilcd, now mcrgcd with Duet as per

2024.

Prfriculers
Holdlng Company l'ellow Subsidirry

3l lllrrch 2025 11 Mrrch 2O2C 1l Vrrch 2025 3l Mrrch 2024

lrtcrcst reclved durlnq thc ycrr
Dwt India Hot€ls (Pune) Private Limited l4 s)

Borrowings from relrted partier avril€d / freoaid)
Duet India Hotels (Chmai) Private Limited r?.601 160

Interert oD lntercorporrte borrowlng3
Duct India Hotels (Chennai) Privarc Limitcd 0.75 o76

Duet India Hotcls 94.50
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Pu Ltd. (rcccived) 15 70
Ducr JKM India Hotcls (lndorc) Private Limitcd (received) l2t 98
)uet hdia Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited (received) 2.4

4.00 050
1.52

Duet India Hotcls (Hydembad) Private Limibd (received)* o14



Duet lhdis Hotels (Nrvi Vumbri) Privrtc t,imttcd
CIN: U45200HR1982PIC075000

Notca to thc finrocirl strtemcnt3 for the yctr endcd Jl March 2025

Qlll anounrs are in INRmillions, unless otheNisestated)

23 Fln.ncirl inrlrum€nh- Fsirvrlu$ rnd rfuk nrmgement

A) Flmncl.l ln(rum€nts by crt€gory tnd frir vrlle

financialinslmols into rhe lhre lev€js Fescribed uderrhe accowtingshndlrd.

P.rticulars

il Mrrch 2025

Levcl of
Hiererchy

Frir Veluc Through Profll
,nd Loi! (F!"rPL)

Fair Vrluc Through Othcr
Comprehrillve Income (FVTOCIj

Amortbcd Cost

Fin.ncld aisets

Non-cMcnt financial asscts - Othcrs 0.08

Fin.nclrl llrbllltl€s

liabilitics - Tradc
2 182.55

Totrl ffnrnchl ll.bilitie!

Particularu Lev€l of F.lr Vrlu€ Through Fair Amorth€d Coft
snd l,oss

Non-curcnt financial assds - Othtrs 0.03
Cfficnl financial asscts - Cash and cash eouivatcnr 0.08

Iohl nnlnchl $rch 0.ll

Finsnchl liabilitica

Borowins 1

Cuotrt fimncial liabiliries - Trade dyables
Clmnt financiil liabililies - OthcN

Totrl flmnclrl llabilltles 220.U

I{mnchl s$ets .nd llsbllltl$ hcstrred ra rmortlscd cost - Fllr vrl* me.surem€ntt

shonffimtsilies of thse itrtllmnts.

IntcGt ratcs on noFcMcnt bonowins are cquiwlcnt to the mrkct ratc. Accordingly, the srrying value of such borowings approximtcs fair vatuc.

E) Mersurement offalr vrlues
Fair valws are cateSorised into diffsmt lcvels in a fair value hicrarchy bas€d on thc inpub ucd in lhe vatuarion tcchniqucs as followsl
Lcvcl I : quotcd prices (uadjustcd) in active mrkets for idsticat a$ets or liabilitics.

Lcvel l: inpub forihc assb or liability thar arc rctbasqlon obswablc mrkei dab (sobscrvablc inputs).
Thcrc are no bansfcs bctwcen Lcvcl I , Levol 2 and L{vel 3 duing thc ycar

C) Fln.nchl rlsk mrnlgeilent

Ri3k mansgement fr!mework

Thc Company's aclivilics cxpsc il to a varicty offinancial risks: rorkct risk (including forciSn cxchangc risk and intcrcsr rarc risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

mnagcmcntpolicicr and systcm arc rcviewcd rcgularly ro rcllcct changs in t$rkcl @ndirions and lhc Company.s acliviljes.

avi

*



Dftt lndh Holel. (N.vl Mumbrt) Prlvrtc Llnlt€d
ClNr U45200HRl9t2mC0?5000
Notet to lhe finrncl.lstrtemcrl3 for ihe yerrcndedJl Mrrch 2025
(All anounE are in INR ilillio6, Mless otheruise staled)

L Msrket rlrk

fin8ncial instmmb.

a, lilcreit rrte rlgk

mles relits primarily b lhc Conpaoy's tem loan with fl@ti0g iilcrcst nb.

Interesa rrae lcnrltlvlty

affeted fuough the impact on flmting rstc bomrving!, as follows:

PsrtlculaB Incrcarc/ dccreae ln b.sls poinb Ellcct on prollt (losr)
hfore br

(t.261

1,26

(t.26\
t.26

50
(50)

50
(50)

3l Mrrch 2025
FCCD issued by $c Company

FCCD issucd by the Company

3l Mrrch 2024

FCCD issued by the Company

FCCD issed by lhe Comny



Duetlndla HoteL o{rvl Mumbrl) Pdvrtc Ltnlted
CIN: U,15200HR1982PrC075000

Notc! bthe Rnrnchl ilrtenent! forthc yerrend.d 3l Msrch 2025
(All mNnb ore ln INR nllllont, unless othendse s&ted)

23 Flnrnchl ltrilrumenta- Frhvlluer and il3k mantgement

ll, Credlt rbk
loss. The Comprny is dposcd to o€di! risk from ils opmting

Finmcial instuols andcsh deposib
crcdil risk tom b.lanc6 wilh brnk trc mnsged by the company's mnagemmt in a@rduce with lhc conpany's policy. Invsmmts of surplu futr& arc made only wirh apprved @utter?dios.

frilurc to trhko paymen6.

The Compmy arsides that its ctrh ud 6h equivalenls have low 6cdir dslc

lll. Llquldlty rllk

Liquidityrisks re Msgql by lhe Companys ruagcmetrt in a@rdrnce with Companys policy. The Company's objetivc is b minuin a balm€ thc
useofbanklomsandcquityshm Themnptnyaffipbtomsurelhatthwissbalaneb*emthetimingofoutllowandinllowoffrmdr.Thcconpanya3s*edlhe@nmhtionofriskwithrespd
to refinecitrg i6 debt md concludcd it ro be low since smpstry hs a@s to s sumcimt varicty of solres otnmding.

The Comroy is not subjet b any cridions on thc w ofits spibl that 6uld signifsntly imprct its op@lions. ln light ofth* facilitiK, thc Company is not erposcd to oy liquidityiisk.

The lable below stmuriss the maturily prcfilc of the Company's linmcial liabilities bsed on @ntmclul udis@ut€d paymd6:

for lhe yelr onded 3l March 2025

Non - dcrlvstlye fl nrnchl lhbllltlet
NoFmtbomwings
C|lmt mdepaFbls

182.55 182.55 182.55
t.t2t.t2-1.t2---

183.67183.67-1.12--l8r.ss

Cotrlrmturl c$h flort
C.rrylnsrmount Totrl Ondcmudtmout <3morth Stol2montb ltosyqrg >SyerrsFor lhe ye.rcnded 31 Mrrch 2024

NoFcumt bomwings
Cl|d borcwings
Tnde prFbls

208.21

7.84

4.39

208.21

1,84
208.21

1.84
4.39



Duct Indi! llotcls (Nrvt Mumbri) Pdvstc l-inihd
CIN: U45200lIRl98tPTC075000
Note! to ihe tlnarcisl statemert! for the yerr ended 3l Mrrch 2025
(All anounu are in INRnillio[. unle$ othe^abe stated)

24 CspllrlmrnrFement

narimisc (be sharcholder valuc.

maluiriG) ls 6h and 6h equivalcnb.

Bomwings

Lcss: Cash and cdh equivalents includingothcr bank balancs

Ncl dcbt (A)

Tobl Lquity (including oths cquiry)

Caplt lrndnctdcba(B)

As rt As rt
3l Mrrch 2025 Jl Vrrch 20:1

182.55 2t6.05
(o.ts) (0.01)

182.40 tt6,g2

( t8l.l1) (2t9.41 )

1.26 (3Je)

Ccrrins ratio I{A)/(B)| u476V" -6312i/"

extcnsion ofdcvelopmcnl pcdod for a psiod oflhre pF lionr ftc cff@rive drtc ol changc ofndmc of@mpany in MIDC, apprcval ofthe sare is Nwaircd.

sincc thc bcnefit ofseh osts incMcdwas no! availablcilymore.

m'lgcmcnl had @ordc{ a provision for impaimcnl ofright ofusc 6seb amouling ro NR 6?4.37 million as excalionsl ircm duing rhc yar endcd 3 I Msreh 202i.

obligalions and liabililis as and whfl they fall due in nsr futw.nd accordingly, rh€se financial shrements have bM preparEd on a going concm basis.

26 Dfucloturc! under Mlcro, Smrll and Medtum Entorprtls Development Act, 2006 (MSMED)
3l Mrrch 2025 3l March 2024

Du6 to mlc.q sm.ll rnd medlum suppllers
Thc amohts remaining upaid to mino and small sqrplics s at thc 6d of rhe ya:
Principal

lnlmt

The amunl of intnsrpaid bvrhc buls 6 pslhe Mim sms[ md Mcdium lnkrpdss DcvclopmtAcr,2006 (MSMED AcL 2006)

The munb of rhe paFm6 mde to micrc and smll supplim bclond the lppointed dayduin8 @ch aeouring 
'€i

Thc amount ofintmt due dd paFble for $€ ytr ofdetay in making paFnmt (which have ben paid bur beyond th€
appointcddayduinglhele) bul wiilrour adding rhe inrcrur speciticd ud4rMSMED Acr,2006.

The amount of inlfts acmed and remining unpaid ar the fid of €ch accounting Fe_

The amul of ffdhtr inbBt @ining due snd palrble evm in th€ succeding yaN, mtil such &@ when rhe inrde$
du6 3 abovc are aclually paid ro rhc smll mrcrpri$ for the purpose ofdisollowancc 6 a dcrlucribre qpenditurc undq
Selion 23 ofthe MSMED Acr 2006.

@ivcd and available wirh rhe Company

27 Nrw lbbdrrds rnd intrrprebffons, not y€t sdopted

pronouncmmh and bsscd on ils cvalution has dctemind that ir do6 nol havc anysignifiqnr impact in ils financial stalmcnts.

28 Rallos es r€quired by Schedule llI to the Conprni$ Act, 2013:

Erpl!nrtions to vrrirncc ln Rrtlos:

Rrtlo I

lil
l'"

(a) Cmnt Ralio
(b) Dcb!EquilyRari0
(c) Relm on EquilyRatio
(d) Rctm on Capital emploFt %

Loss for thc Ftr
bcforc iilm$ md

Tohl Cfficnt Liabilitis
Toral nquity

Avcmgc'Iotal Equity
Capital lmploled: Iangible Ncr

2.08

(1.0)

-9Vo

3t t90/D

0.08 I

( L0tl
4s4%l
-8E1%l

2480.1

98%

453"1

As lhc CompNy docs not havc any rct!ilucg!ilcration activitics rill 3 I Varch 2025. so thc Coilpany hds nor practrlcd rhc fbltos,ins rarios:
d) Dcbt soRilc colcragc atio
b) Lrvcntory tumo\cr rdtio
c) Itudr pnyblc runiovcr rnlio
d) lrade rcocivrblc nmo!cr iltr)
c) Nct dpital lunovcr nilio
f) NDI prolir rntio
g) llctunr oil nrlcsnrcDt

Delhi



Duetlndls Hotelt (Nrvl Mumbal) Prlvatc Liml&d
CIN! U45200[nt9E2PrC075000
NoL! b tbc rlnrncld ltltenenh fortb€ y€rr.ndod 3l M.rch 2025
(All anunbare in /jvRnillio6, unl6s othentue s@ted)

29 Otb.r rtrlulor] lDfomltloo
(i) The Cofipany do6 not havc any Bdami prcpqty, whw my proceeding has bm initiatcd or pmding against lhc Company for holding any Bqami prcpfly.
(ii) The Conpany d6 mt hsve uy msadions with mmpmiG shck ofi
(iii) The Compmy dB not havc my chsg6 or srtisfaction which is Ft to bc rcgistered wi$ Rcgishr ofcompani6 (ROC) belond the sbtutory p6iod.
(iv) Ths CompMy hs not hdcd or invsbd in Crypto cllmcy or Vitul Cllmcy duing the 6n0nciat Jer.
(v) (a) The Compmy hs not advanced or lorncd or invBted tnds lo ey othcr pmon(s) or otit/is), including forign 6riti6 (Inmcdiari6) wirh the mdmhding that rhe Infcdiar shall:

(i) diclly or indi@tly lmd or invst in olher peFons or otitis identificd in my mann6 whltsws byor on bchalfof the mmpany(ulriffito Benatlciari6) or
(ii) prcvidc any guml@, s6uity or rhe like lo or on behelf of the Ultimte Bdeficisis

(i) dirfftly m indictly l6d or invest in olh6 pmons or mrilis idmrilied in my mnnd whsrsevtr byor o bchalf of lhc FmdinS Pany (Uhimre tsoeliciariB) or
(ii) prcvide any guEnre, ssuity or the like on behalfofthc Lnlimte B6eficiari6

(such il, swh or sweyor eyolhs rclevmt prcvisions of the In@me d Act, 196l

are repsyable on dfrand or without speirying my lem or pdiod of reaymst
(viii) The Compmy hs uscd the bomwings ftom bank for lhe speific purposc for which it w hken.
(ix) Thc Compmy has not ben dslared . wilful defsulF by bank, in amrden@ wilh lhe guidelinB on wilful defaulth.
(x) The Comprny has @mplied with nMbcr oflares prescribed uder rhe Compmi6 AcL 201 3,
(xi) The Compuy hs not enlqtd into any scheme of mngmf,t which has an 4@uting imprct on c]jffit or prcvious financial 

'sr.(xii) The Company is not rcquired to submit qufltrly rctums oi shtmmb with banks during rhc cuEar or previous ,@r.

The not6 from Nole I lo Nore 29 fom an integnl pan of rh6€ financial slaEmb.

As p6 ou repon ofcvo abte alached

For Lodh. & Co LLP
Chatkrcd AccourtaflB

ICAI Fim Rcsi6htion No.: l0l05lE/E300284g"/)'--
G3ur.v Lodhr

Membmhip No.: 507462

Plee: New Delhi
Dah 20 May 2025

Forudon bchalfofBoard ofDi@toN of
Duet Indla llotcb (N.vl Mumbsl) Prlvrae Llmltcd
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Pla@: Gmgm
De:20 Msy2025

Ple: GugEm
Dde: 20 May 2025


